**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2019

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
RICHARD E. TEDFORD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001957

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

Joanna K. Delany  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in finding counsel provided effective representation in petitioner's burglary trial where counsel failed to object to the solicitor's closing argument that petitioner wanted to rape the complainant, where this was not a reasonable inference as the argument was based solely on the fact that the complainant was nude but there was no showing the intruder knew she was nude, since this allowed impermissible fear and speculation to infect petitioner's trial?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was tried for two counts of first-degree burglary and two counts of grand larceny before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury from October 13 – 15, 2015. R. 1; R. 791 – 798. Richard Warder represented petitioner; Mark Moyer and Andrea Phillips represented the state. R. 1.

Petitioner testified that his actions on the morning in question were the product of a “night from hell.” R. 542, l. 23 – 543, l. 1. He explained that he was with his fiancé when they drove from Wellford to Greer and she purchased methamphetamine, and that late at night an argument transpired between the couple and she left him on the side of the road. R. 481, l. 21 – 482, l. 25. Petitioner said he walked for hours and “got red mud all over [his] pants and look[ed] terrible,” but eventually his fiancé’s friend, “Derek or Dirk” Sakela arrived to pick him up in a black Toyota Scion. R. 483, l. 19 – 484, l. 25; R. 486, ll. 20-25; R. 520, ll. 15-20.

A black Toyota Scion was stolen from Melody Wilbanks’ (Wilbanks) home by a burglar that morning, and the car, which was later found abandoned and damaged behind an office building, contained items stolen from Arlene Walker (Walker). R. 152, l. 18 – 153, l. 9; R. 270, l. 2 – 271, l. 5; R. 287, ll. 4-17; R. 313, ll. 8-16. It was subsequently discovered that an uninhabited, newly-constructed house belonging to Walker had also been burglarized. R. 264, ll. 8-20; R. 308, ll. 5-15. Walker had brought household items to the new house, but no one lived there yet. R. 264, l. 18 – 265, l. 22. She found that items had been stolen, the house was damaged, and towels and toiletries had been used. R. 267, l. 24 – 270, l. 9.

Petitioner’s fingerprints were found inside Wilbanks’ abandoned Scion and inside the Walker property’s bathroom. R. 315, ll. 1-10; R. 388, l. 17 – 389, l. 19; R. 399, l. 13 – 400, l. 7. Residents of the rural area saw petitioner that morning in the Scion, and claimed he behaved in a

suspicious manner. R. 182, ll. 15-22; R. 186, ll. 7-16; R. 196, ll. 7-13; R. 220, l. 2 – 222, l. 16; R. 229, ll. 19-24. One of the residents recalled that petitioner asked, “[I]f there was a Dirk or a Derek at my house.” R. 222, ll. 4-5.

Petitioner denied burglarizing the Walker property, which was an unoccupied house in a neighborhood under construction, but explained that he paid a laborer in the neighborhood to allow him in to take a shower since he was so muddy. R. 484, l. 23 – 486, l. 13. He admitted using the towels but denied damaging or stealing anything. R. 509, ll. 19-20; R. 510, l. 15 – 511, l. 2. Petitioner said Derek then picked him up in a black Scion and he said he thought Derek was “tweaking” on drugs that morning. R. 530, ll. 10-12; R. 488, ll. 15-18.

In contrast, the Wilbanks burglary was of an occupied home with the homeowner present. Wilbanks’ husband had left for work and Wilbanks, who slept in the nude, was still asleep when she heard glass shatter and ran into the living room to see “a man coming in through the window.” R. 141, l. 8 – 143, l. 6. Wilbanks retreated to her bedroom and locked the door, but after that door was broken down she retreated to the bathroom and hid in a closet. R. 144, l. 12 – 145, l. 9; R. 246, ll. 19-20. When Wilbanks heard the intruder trying the bathroom doorknob she fired a pistol and heard the burglar retreat. R. 147, ll. 3-5; R. 149, ll. 13-15. She heard her purse being rummaged through and the sound of her car keys jingling. R. 148, l. 23 – 149, l. 7. After police officers arrived she realized her Scion had been stolen. R. 151, l. 15 – 152, l. 6.

Wilbanks did not get a close look at the intruder and could not identify the person, and there was no forensic evidence located in the home. R. 143, l. 15 – 144, l. 8; R. 347, ll. 18-23. Wilbanks did offer that she could tell the burglar was a white male, although she told Officer Shaw on the scene that the man might have been black. R. 343, ll. 12-17; R. 143, l. 25 – 144, l. 2. **There was no evidence the burglar saw Wilbanks.** No one besides Wilbanks witnessed the

burglary. Petitioner adamantly denied any knowledge of or involvement in the burglary of Wilbanks' home. R. 493, l. 7 – 494, l. 10.

In closing argument, the solicitor improperly appealed to the passions and prejudices of the jury by suggesting petitioner intended to rape Wilbanks, a gratuitous accusation of uncharged sexual misconduct, where there was no testimony about this alleged motive during the trial. The solicitor argued,

**We also know he was following Ms. Wilbanks into her bedroom where she's hiding to get away from him. And did he also enter that home with the intention to rape? Did he intend to do that only when he saw Ms. Wilbanks come into the room naked? Or did he not have an intention of rape. We know he was certainly going after her. We don't know for sure.**

R. 575, ll. 6-14 (emphasis added). Defense counsel did not object.

The jury deliberated for five and a half hours before convicting petitioner of first-degree burglary, second-degree burglary, grand larceny, and petty larceny.<sup>1</sup> R. 627, l. 24 – 628, l. 11.

Defense counsel explained that petitioner was an honorably discharged veteran who had post-traumatic stress disorder and had been in pre-trial detention for twenty-seven months. R. 631, ll. 4-24. The court sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty-three years, twelve years, ten years, and thirty days, respectively. R. 641, l. 17 – 642, l. 2; R. 799 – 802.

After his convictions were affirmed on direct appeal, petitioner timely filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). A hearing was held on the matter June 20, 2018

---

<sup>1</sup> The state amended the indictment for the Walker burglary from first-degree to second-degree since the property was not a dwelling, and amended the accompanying grand larceny to petty larceny based on the value of the items that were taken. R. 469, l. 13 – 470, l. 15; R. 472, l. 11 – 474, l. 3. Petitioner was convicted as indicted on the Wilbanks burglary and larceny.

before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. R. 723. Rodney Richey represented petitioner and Deshawn Mitchell represented the state. R. 723.

At the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that his counsel failed to object and request a curative instruction when the solicitor made inflammatory remarks about rape in his closing argument, and that this was deficient since there were “no allegations in the trial of any sexual intent.” R. 735, l. 14 – 736, l. 6. Defense counsel said he agreed the solicitor’s remarks were improper: “Certainly, it’s inflammatory. It probably was objectionable.” R. 757, ll. 8-16. However, defense counsel said he did not object because “maybe there was some factual inference out of that conduct”—breaking into the bedroom and then trying to enter the bathroom. R. 757, ll. 16-24. “The jury could have wondered about his intent.” R. 757, ll. 23-24. “But more importantly to me also, is the risk of objecting to the words ‘rape’ and just highlighting it . . .” R. 477, l. 25 – 478, l. 2.

PCR counsel revisited the matter in his summation. “As to this closing argument, the reference to the word ‘rape,’ I do not believe there was any evidence in the record that [the intruder] did any act while he was in there to attempt to rape this lady. Zero.” R. 765, ll. 13-17.

The PCR court denied petitioner relief and its order of dismissal stated: “This court finds [t]rial [c]ounsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State’s remarks during closing arguments.” R. 783 – 784. The PCR court wrote, “Here, this court finds a reasonable inference could be found from the evidence presented at trial including the testimony at trial from the victim in the case. During the trial, the State asked Ms. Wilbanks if she was clothed that morning and she responded she was not.” R. 784. “Moreover, this court finds [petitioner] cannot demonstrate he did not receive a fair trial because of these remarks.” R. 784. “Furthermore, [t]rial [c]ounsel testified he did not object to the [s]olicitor’s comments during closing arguments

because the jury could have inferred from the testimony given at trial that the scenario offered by the [s]olicitor may be true.” R. 784.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding defense counsel provided effective representation in petitioner's burglary trial where counsel failed to object to the solicitor's closing argument that petitioner wanted to rape the complainant, where this was not a reasonable inference as the argument was based solely on the fact that the complainant was nude but there was no showing the intruder knew that she was nude, since this allowed impermissible fear and speculation to infect petitioner's trial.

The solicitor's argument that petitioner intended to rape Wilbanks was based solely on the facts that Wilbanks slept in the nude and that the burglar did not confine himself to the living room. This argument was not a reasonable inference since there was no evidence the burglar had seen Wilbanks and knew she was nude, and there was no other indicia of sexual intent. The improper argument appealed for a verdict on the basis of fear and speculation and petitioner was prejudiced since the evidence against him was not overwhelming.

### ***Deficiency***

A solicitor's closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors nor be calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices. *Von Dohlen v. State*, 360 S.C. 598, 609, 602 S.E.2d 738, 744 (2004). "[I]ts content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it." *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). Solicitors must "confine their comments to the facts presented and reasonable inferences from such facts." *Id.* at 326, 468 S.E.2d at 625.

*Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 503 S.E.2d 164 (1998), presented a similar factual scenario to the case at hand. In *Simmons*, the defendant was tried for burglary and ABHAN, at a time when burglary permitted the jury to make a recommendation of mercy. In closing, the

solicitor misstated the law regarding a mercy recommendation. The solicitor also implied that the defendant intended to rape the burglary complainant. “He had something evil on his mind. He went in, it was obvious the people were upstairs. He knew exactly what he wanted. He saw Mrs. Lewis sleeping in her bed in the darkness, exactly what he wanted . . .” *Id.* at 336; 503 S.E.2d at 165.

The Court reversed Simmons’ conviction based on the solicitor’s misstatement of the law but found that the rape issue was unpreserved as it was not addressed in the PCR court’s order. However, the Court did write, “[I]t is a close question whether the solicitor went outside the record by inferring the crime petitioner intended to commit was rape.” *Id.* at 341, 503 S.E.2d at 168. Ultimately, the Court observed that even if the remarks were improper, they did not prejudice the defendant because the evidence against him was overwhelming. *Id.* The Court did not provide the factual allegations in its opinion, so it is not possible to parse why the rape argument was a “close question” rather than obviously improper.

Here, on the facts of this record, however, the rape argument was improper. There was no evidence the burglar intended a sexual assault. Instead, this was mere speculation based on the complainant’s state of undress. The complainant had merely been sleeping that way—there was nothing about her nudity that indicated an intent to rape. The intruder did not force her to disrobe. There was no evidence that petitioner saw the complainant or otherwise knew that she was nude.

Counsel admitted the argument was inflammatory and objectionable but said he did not object because he did not want to “highlight” the argument. “Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Matthews v. State*, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002). “However, counsel

cannot assert trial strategy as a defense for failure to object to comments which constitute an error of law and are inherently prejudicial.” *Id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court has found a failure to object to improper closing argument based on a stated strategy of not drawing attention to the argument to be an invalid rationale that is not accorded deference. In *Brown v. State*, 383 S.C. 506, 512, 680 S.E.2d 909, 912 (2009), the solicitor urged the jury to “speak up for” the child victim during its deliberations in a sexual assault trial, and the defendant’s counsel failed to object to this “golden rule” violation. Counsel said he did not object because he “didn’t want to exacerbate a bad set of facts to point out to the jury something that would already aggravate what appeared to be a pretty bad case.” *Id.* at 512-513, 680 S.E.2d at 913. The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that notwithstanding counsel’s purported strategy choice, “it was incumbent upon” him to object: “[W]e find this ‘strategy’ cannot be construed as a valid one given the evident impropriety of the solicitor’s remarks.” *Id.* at 517, 680 S.E.2d at 915.

Here, counsel’s failure to object was not a valid strategic choice. The jury heard the solicitor’s spurious allegations, which went outside the record since there was no evidence the intruder knew the complainant was nude. Although counsel knew the remarks were objectionable, he did not object. His purported strategy decision cannot save an otherwise inexcusable failure to object to an inherently prejudicial statement. It was incumbent upon counsel to object here, and his failure to so object was deficient performance.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. A petitioner must prove “that counsel’s

performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced him. *Id.* at 687.

“A solicitor’s closing argument must be carefully tailored so it does not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors.” *State v. Rudd*, 355 S.C. 543, 548, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003). It is error for the state to invite the jury to speculate about a matter irrelevant to a defendant’s guilt because it is an “appeal for a verdict based on fear and speculation.” *See State v. Sloan*, 278 S.C. 435, 438, 298 S.E.2d 92, 93 (1982). Counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s inherently prejudicial argument was ineffective assistance of counsel.

### ***Prejudice***

“On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor’s argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge’s instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant’s guilt.” *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). “The appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. The relevant question is whether the solicitor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *Id.* at 338, 503 S.E.2d at 166-67 (internal citations omitted). *Accord State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 424, 535 S.E.2d 431, 438 (2000).