STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

NOV 15 2019

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001957

RICHARD E. TEDFORD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found that Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object during Petitioner's trial for burglary to the State's closing argument referencing Petitioner's possible intention to sexually assault the victim where the State's argument was properly based on reasonable inferences from the record and counsel made a strategic decision not to object to avoid highlighting the reference to the jury.

Petitioner argues Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument that the evidence presented indicated Petitioner entered the home of one of the female victims with the intent to rape her because the argument was based solely upon the fact of the victim's nudity and the Petitioner's movement into the victim's bedroom, and that the only evidence that Petitioner had committed the burglary was that he was seen in the victim's car after the burglary.

The PCR court properly found that there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could have inferred that Petitioner intended to rape the victim and that Counsel made the strategic decision not to object because he wanted to avoid cementing the image of Petitioner attempting to rape the victim in the mind of the jurors. The solicitor's closing argument did not affect the outcome of trial because the solicitor did not conclusively argue that Petitioner entered the victim's home with the intent to rape her, only that he may have entered the home with that intention.

Petitioner has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the

adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that Counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, Counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the PCR applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697.

A. The PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not deficient because the evidence at trial reasonably supported the inference that Petitioner intended to sexually assault the victim.

Petitioner argues that the solicitor's argument in closing that Petitioner may have intended to sexually assault the victim was not supported by the evidence at trial. Petitioner contends that, unlike in Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 503 S.E.2d 164 (1998), there is no question that the solicitor in this case went outside the record in arguing that Petitioner might have intended to commit sexual assault. According to Petitioner, the solicitor speculated about Petitioner's intention based off of the fact that the victim was undressed when the intruder entered her home, a fact that Petitioner argues was not shown at trial to have been known to the intruder at the time of the break-in. Petitioner tries to distinguish the present case from Simmons in an effort to show that the solicitor's remarks in this case were improper. In Simmons, the solicitor argued in closing that:

[Simmons] might have had plans to case that house, get an idea everything that was there and was going to take it on the way out. He had something else in mind. He had something evil on his mind. He went in, it was obvious the people were upstairs. He knew exactly what he wanted. He saw [the victim] sleeping in her bed in the darkness, exactly what he wanted”

Id. at 336, 503 S.E.2d at 165.

This Court found that Simmons' claim that his trial counsel should have objected to the solicitor's argument in closing that Simmons intended to rape the victim while inside her home was not preserved for appellate review because the PCR court had not ruled upon the ground. Id. at 341, 503 S.E.2d at 168. Because the Court did not address the ground, it did not provide explanation as to its statement that it was “a close question” as to whether the solicitor went outside the record in implying that Simmons wanted to rape the victim. Id., footnote 3.

Here, the solicitor's remarks were grounded in the record. Although the victim did not testify as to whether she believes that the intruder saw her as he climbed through the window into her living room, in which she was standing at the time, she did testify that she was able to identify the race, sex, and clothing of the intruder while she stood in her living room. A reasonable inference from her testimony was that there was enough light in the room and that the victim and the intruder were both present in the living room for time enough for him to notice that the victim was a nude female. The victim testified that the burglar's entrance into her home began after her husband left the home for work around 6:00 a.m. She also testified about the intruder's forcible entrance into her bedroom and then his attempt to enter the bathroom in which she was closeted in fear. The movements of the intruder once he was inside the victim's home could reasonably be interpreted as actions of an attacker in pursuit of a target. All of this evidence at trial could have supported the conclusion that the intruder entered the victim's home with an intent to rape her.

The present case is distinguishable from Simmons; however, it is distinguishable because the solicitor's remarks in this case are not as definite as the solicitor's in Simmons. Whereas the solicitor argued that Simmons' intended to rape the victim in that case, and used language like "obvious" and "exactly", the solicitor in the present case merely raised the possibility that, in addition to intending to steal the victim's property, Petitioner also intended to rape the victim. The solicitor explicitly stated in closing that it was not certain whether Petitioner had an intent to rape the victim and that it *would probably never be certain*. App. 575. In contrast with Simmons, the State did not argue that the evidence clearly demonstrated that Petitioner entered the victim's home with an intent to rape her, which readily distinguishes the two cases.

As an explanation at the PCR hearing for his decision not to object to the solicitor's remarks, Counsel pointed to the victim's trial testimony, and testified that there could have been a factual inference of Petitioner's intent to rape the victim drawn therefrom. App. 757. Counsel also testified that he did not object to the remarks because, even if his objection had been sustained, argument about the word "rape" could cause it to take on more significance to the jury and could highlight the relevant testimony from the victim. App. 758. Petitioner argues that Counsel's strategy in not objecting to the remarks was not valid, relying upon Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 680 S.E.2d 909 (2009). In Brown, the solicitor argued in closing that the jury should find Brown guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and transmitting a sexual disease, calling on the jury to "speak up for [the victim]." Id. at 512, 680 S.E.2d at 912. This Court approved of the findings of the PCR court that the solicitor's comments amounted to a "Golden Rule" argument, noted that the case had emotional tension because the victim was a three-year-old child, and concluded that the solicitor's remarks implored the jury to shed its impartiality and consider the case from the point of view of the child. Id. at 516-17, 680 S.E.2d at 915. Brown's trial counsel testified that he did not object to the solicitor's comments because he did not want to highlight to the jury bad facts or give the jury an additional reason to dislike Brown. Id. at 512, 680 S.E.2d at 913. This Court held that the PCR court had correctly concluded that the supposed trial strategy was not valid in light of the "evident impropriety of the solicitor's remarks." Id. at 517, 680 S.E.2d at 915. Brown does not aid Petitioner in this case as the solicitor's remarks in this case concerned evidence in the record and reasonable inferences therefrom meant to go to the elements of the charged offense. The solicitor's remarks were not a Golden Rule argument meant to shift the jury from its impartiality

to bias. Rather than calling upon the jury to be an avenger of a victim or calling the jury to put itself in the shoes of a sympathetic victim, the solicitor in this case argued about the reasonable inferences that could be drawn from the evidence presented.

The evidence at trial supported a reasonable inference that Petitioner broke into the victim's house with the intent to rape the victim, and the solicitor's remarks in closing focused the jury on the evidence before it, not on the person of the victim or inappropriate feelings of vengeance. Counsel articulated that he did not object to the remarks because the inference of Petitioner's intent to rape could be inferred from the evidence and in order to avoid highlighting the issue to the jury. The PCR court properly found that there was no deficiency in Counsel's performance.

B. Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice where the State did not conclusively argue that Petitioner intended to sexually assault the victim.

Petitioner argues that he was prejudiced by Counsel's decision not to object to the remarks because the evidence that Petitioner was the burglar of the victim's home was not overwhelming and the jury's passion was inflamed by the remarks. He has, however, failed to establish that the outcome of his trial would have been different had Counsel objected to the solicitor's closing argument. Petitioner understates the evidence against him for these crimes. Three witnesses who lived at different locations in Greer testified that they saw Petitioner in or near the victim's black Scion on the day of the home invasion, shortly after the burglar fled the victim's house. Although Petitioner's explanation was that he was merely a tag-a-long for Dirk or Derek, the supposed true burglar, the witnesses never saw this person. In fact, despite the fact that Bishop testified that he confronted Petitioner with a firearm, Petitioner denied any memory

of the event, claiming that he must have been asleep at the time. App. 528. All of this could have indicated to the jury that Petitioner's testimony was not credible.

Petitioner argues that the solicitor's closing argument inflamed the jury's passion and prejudice by inviting the jury to render its verdict on an improper basis and not the evidence before it, and cites in support State v. Hawkins, 292 S.C. 418, 420, 357 S.E.2d 10, 12 (1987), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). In Hawkins, the solicitor referred to the defendant by the nickname "Mad Dog Hawkins" more than forty times throughout the course of trial. By way of contrast, the solicitor's remarks in this case were composed of a few sentences given in closing argument and did not pervade Petitioner's entire trial. The remarks did not significantly undermine the confidence in the outcome of Petitioner's trial because they did not convey to the jury that Petitioner must have had the intent to rape the victim. The solicitor even admitted that the State could not demonstrate conclusively that Petitioner's intent was to rape the victim, whereas he argued that the evidence did conclusively demonstrate that the Petitioner intended to steal the victim's property. The solicitor's closing argument, besides being based upon a legitimate inference based upon the evidence presented at trial, was a far cry from the solicitor's consistent use in Hawkins of the defendant's unflattering nickname. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the outcome of his trial would have been different had Counsel objected to the remarks.

CONCLUSION

The evidence before the PCR court shows that Petitioner failed to demonstrate that Counsel should have objected to the solicitor's remarks in closing because the evidence at trial supports the reasonable inference that the intruder broke into the victim's home with the intent to rape her, the remarks did not conclusively identify rape as a motive of Petitioner, and Counsel wanted to avoid highlighting to the jury the evidence from which the intent to rape could have been inferred. The PCR court properly found that Counsel was not ineffective in not objecting to the remarks. This Court should deny the petition.